UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
Release No. 10991 / September 30, 2021

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Release No. 93200 / September 30, 2021

INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
Release No. 5879 / September 30, 2021

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940
Release No. 34391 / September 30, 2021

ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING ENFORCEMENT
Release No. 4263 / September 30, 2021

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 3 - 20610

ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,

In the Matter of PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECTION 21C
ROBERT D. PRESS, OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, SECTIONS 203(f) AND 203(k) OF THE
Respondent. INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940,

AND SECTION 9(b) OF THE INVESTMENT
COMPANY ACT OF 1940, MAKING
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST
ORDER

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate and in the
public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are,
instituted pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), Section 21C of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), Sections 203(f) and 203(k) of the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company
Act of 1940 (“Company Act”) against Robert D. Press (“Press” or “Respondent”).



In anticipation of the institution of these proceedings, Respondent has submitted an Offer
of Settlement (the “Offer””) which the Commission has determined to accept. Solely for the
purpose of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the
Commission, or to which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings
herein, except as to the Commission’s jurisdiction over him and the subject matter of these
proceedings, which are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section V., Respondent
consents to the entry of this Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings,
Pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Section 21C of the Exchange Act, Sections 203(f)
and 203(k) of the Advisers Act, and Section 9(b) of the Company Act, Making Findings, and
Imposing Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order (“Order”), as set forth below.

On the basis of this Order and Respondent’s Offer, the Commission finds* that:

Summary

1. TCA Fund Management Group Corp. (“TCA”) is the registered investment adviser
to TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP (the “Master Fund”) and its two feeder funds, TCA Global
Credit Fund, LP (“Feeder Fund LP”) and TCA Global Credit Fund, Ltd. (“Feeder Fund Ltd.”)
(collectively, the “TCA Funds”). TCA Global Credit Fund GP, Ltd. (“GP”) is the general partner
to the Master Fund and Feeder Fund LP. The Master Fund focused solely on investing in short-
term, senior secured debt and equity-related investments, and providing investment banking
services for a fee to small and medium-sized companies. The feeder funds invested substantially all
of their assets into the Master Fund.

2. TCA and GP fraudulently inflated the TCA Funds’ net asset value (“NAV”) and
performance results through the recording of non-binding transactions from 2010 through
December 2016, and through the recording of fraudulent investment banking fees from January
2016 through November 2019. TCA also misled the TCA Funds’ investors with respect to the
performance of the TCA Funds by improperly including a promissory note of $34.3 million as
income in the Master Fund’s 2015 financial statements. Press approved worksheets prepared by
TCA for the TCA Funds’ monthly NAV that included these non-binding transactions and fraudulent
investment banking fees. TCA sent this information to an outside independent fund administrator
(the “fund administrator””) who used it to calculate the TCA Funds’ monthly NAV and performance
results. Press’ severely reckless actions resulted in TCA providing this data to the fund
administrator and recording the non-binding transactions and fraudulent investment banking fees on
the TCA Funds’ books and records.

! The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondent’s Offer of Settlement and are not binding on any

other person or entity in this or any other proceeding.
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Respondent

3. Robert Press, 57, resides in Aventura, Florida. Press is the founder and former
owner, Chief Executive Officer and director of TCA. He is also the former owner and director of
GP.

Relevant Entities

4. TCA Fund Management Group Corp. was formed in 2011 and is an investment
adviser registered with the Commission since August 13, 2014. TCA is a Florida corporation
headquartered in Aventura, Florida, with other offices in New York, Las Vegas, London, and
Melbourne, Australia.

5. TCA Global Credit Fund GP, Ltd. is a Cayman Islands company formed in January
2010. GP serves as the general partner of Feeder Fund LP and the Master Fund.

6. TCA Global Credit Fund, LP is a Cayman Islands limited partnership formed in
March 2010. Feeder Fund LP engaged in investment activities as an unregistered private
investment fund. TCA serves as Feeder Fund LP’s investment adviser and GP is its general
partner.

7. TCA Global Credit Fund, Ltd. is a Cayman Islands company formed in March
2010. Feeder Fund Ltd. engaged in investment activities as an unregistered private investment
fund. TCA serves as Feeder Fund Ltd.’s investment adviser.

8. TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP is a Cayman Islands limited partnership
formed in March 2010. It serves as the master fund in a master-feeder structure for Feeder Fund
LP and Feeder Fund Ltd. TCA serves as the Master Fund’s investment adviser and GP Is its
general partner.

District Court Action

9. On May 11, 2020, the Commission filed a partially settled civil action in United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida against TCA and GP based on violations
of the antifraud provisions. The Commission’s complaint alleged that between early 2010 through
November 2019, TCA and GP fraudulently inflated the TCA Funds’ NAV and performance results
by recording non-binding transactions and fraudulent investment banking services agreements. On
May 12, 2020, the Court entered a consented-to judgment that, among other things, enjoined TCA
and GP from future violations of the antifraud provisions. TCA and GP voluntarily consented to
the appointment of Jonathan Perlman, Esg. of Genovese Joblove & Battista, P.A. as Receiver over
TCA, GP, and the TCA Funds. See SEC v. TCA Fund Management Group Corp. et al., Case No.
1:20-cv-21964 (S.D. Fla.).




Facts
A. Background

10.  TCA has served as the investment adviser to the TCA Funds from September 2011
until the present. TCA’s Master Fund focused solely on providing short-term, senior secured debt
and equity-related investments, and providing investment banking services for a fee to small and
medium-sized companies (“portfolio companies”). Feeder Fund LP and Feeder Fund Ltd. raised
money from investors through private sales of securities in the funds, which was then invested in
limited partnership interests in the Master Fund. Upon investing, investors in Feeder Fund Ltd.
received shares, and investors in Feeder Fund LP received limited partnership interests. As of
November 30, 2019, the date of their last reported NAV, the TCA Funds reported a consolidated
net asset value of $516 million and had a combined total of about 470 investor accounts.

B. The Master Fund’s Investment Strategy

11.  The Master Fund provided financing investments to small and medium-sized
companies. A typical financing had interest rates ranging from 12% to 18% per year, and
required the company borrower to pay various fees at closing and over the duration of the loan.
After an initial vetting process, the Master Fund and the potential borrower signed a non-binding
“term sheet” that set forth the possible financing terms, and the company borrower would pay a
small fee in order to proceed to further due diligence review by TCA’s underwriting department.
If the company met TCA’s underwriting criteria, then transaction documents were executed at
closing by the borrower and by TCA on behalf of the Master Fund.

12. At closing, borrowers were usually also required to sign either an “investment
banking” or “advisory services” agreement (“IB Agreement”) with the Master Fund. The IB
Agreements required companies to pay an “investment banking” or “advisory” fee (“IB Fee”) to
the Master Fund that was “earned upon execution” of the agreement, in consideration for certain
investment banking services that the Master Fund claimed it would provide the company.

13.  Atall times, Press was responsible for the overall investment strategy of the TCA
Funds and had the final word on all investment decisions TCA made on behalf of the TCA
Funds. In addition, he approved information relating to the Master Fund’s monthly revenue and
portfolio asset values that was incorporated in valuation information that TCA sent to the fund
administrator each month.

C. TCA Inflated the TCA Funds’ Monthly NAV and Performance Figures

14.  Feeder Fund LP and Feeder Fund Ltd.’s private placement memoranda (“PPMs”)
state that their NAV inputs are calculated on an accrual basis in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). TCA was responsible for valuation of the Master
Fund’s assets and, every month, it sent valuation information on the Master Fund’s investment
portfolio to the fund administrator hired to calculate the TCA Funds’ NAV and performance
figures, and account balances for the feeder funds’ investors based on those NAV and
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performance figures. The information the fund administrator received from TCA included
monthly listings, spreadsheets and workbooks of the recorded loan and investment banking
transactions for the month. Since inception, Press signed off on each month’s final NAV report.

1. Inflating of NAV through Improperly
Recorded Non-Binding Term Sheets

15.  From inception through December 2016, TCA routinely recorded financing deals
as revenue on the Master Fund’s financial statements on the date borrower companies signed
non-binding term sheets (“term sheet only deals”). Specifically, TCA recorded as revenue on the
Master Fund’s books the unearned accrued interest and fees associated with the term sheet only
deals. This is the interest and fees that the borrower company would pay on the loan if the
financing deal went through and became final and binding. Once recorded, the interest and fees
were also booked as assets of the Master Fund in the form of receivables, and were counted as
part of the calculation of the Master Fund’s monthly NAV going forward, therefore artificially
inflating NAV for every month the interest and fees were included in the calculation. The NAV
of each of the feeder funds was also inflated because substantially all of their respective assets
consisted of limited partnership interests of the Master Fund.

16.  TCA recorded these term sheet only deals in order to inflate the TCA Funds’ NAV
and show consistently positive performance results for the TCA Funds. On a monthly basis, TCA
added new term sheet only deals to the Master Fund’s NAV calculations and removed various old
ones. Based on recommendations from TCA’s staff, Press would decide each month which term
sheet only deals to record on the Master Fund’s books and which of the previously recorded ones
that had not closed, to remove from the books. In particular, TCA’s staff would prepare a monthly
listing of the term sheet only deals to record and would provide the list to Press for his review and
approval. Once approved by Press, TCA’s staff would send this information to the fund
administrator in order to calculate the monthly NAV and performance figures.

17. The term sheet only deals usually stayed on the Master Fund’s books and records
for months before TCA removed them. Even though these deals had not closed, and in many
instances, they did not lead to consummated transactions, year after year, TCA included them as
revenue and assets in valuation information used to calculate the Master Fund’s NAV.

18. By recording the term sheet only deals into the Master Fund’s financial
statements, TCA did not meet the revenue recognition standards set forth in IFRS’s International
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 18 — Revenue.

19.  TCA'’s actions in adding and removing these transactions on the Master Fund’s
books and records had the effect of obscuring the TCA Funds’ true monthly performance. At all
relevant times, TCA had no written policies and procedures for when loan transactions were to be
recorded or reversed on the Master Fund’s books.



20.  Press’ severely reckless actions resulted in TCA providing data relating to the term
sheet only deals to the fund administrator in order to calculate the TCA Funds’ NAV and
performance figures, and in TCA recording those deals on the Master Fund’s books and records.

21.  After the Commission began investigating this matter, TCA stopped its practice
of recognizing loan fees as revenue prior to loan funding effective January 1, 2017. As aresult,
TCA caused certain downward adjustments to be made to the NAV. TCA paid approximately
$1.5 million to investors adversely impacted by its improper revenue recognition of loan fee
revenue.

2. Inflating of NAV through Improperly
Recorded Investment Banking Fees

22. From January 2016 and continuing through November 2019, TCA improperly
recorded on the Master Fund’s books a cumulative total of at least $176 million in revenue from IB
Fees associated with numerous IB Agreements that were uncollectible. Once recorded as revenue,
these IB Fees became part of the TCA Funds’ monthly NAV going forward, thereby inflating
NAV for every month the 1B Fees were captured in the calculation. TCA entered into these IB
Agreements in order to inflate the TCA Funds’ NAV and performance results.

23. Despite recognizing revenue from these IB Fees upon execution of the 1B
Agreements, TCA was aware that the Master Fund would not be able to collect the $176 million in
fees owed because: (i) TCA never rendered any significant services to the companies with whom it
had signed IB Fee agreements; (ii) TCA did not have staff with sufficient knowledge and
experience to provide IB services; (iii) most companies that signed 1B Agreements understood that
the 1B Fee was not payable until after they received that financing; and (iv) in many instances, the
IB Agreements associated with these deals were signed with companies that had no significant
assets or ability to pay the 1B Fees involved.

24.  The revenue recognition standards set forth in IAS 18 and IFRS 15 (which
superseded IAS 18 on January 1, 2018) were not all met when TCA fraudulently recorded the $176
million in IB Fees on the Master Fund’s books. In this situation, because it was not probable that
the 1B Fees would be collected given the financial condition of the companies involved, the
revenue recognition requirements set forth in 1AS 18 and IFRS 15 had not been met when TCA
recorded the IB Fees on the Master Fund’s books. In addition, at the time of the signing of these
IB Agreements, no significant services had been provided by the Master Fund to the companies
involved. Although the IB Agreements stated that the IB Fees were earned upon execution,
because it was not probable that the IB Fees could be collected, they should not have been recorded
as revenue.

25.  TCA sent the data relating to these fraudulent IB Agreements to the fund
administrator. Press reviewed and approved a monthly “Pipeline Report” of signed IB Agreements
and associated 1B Fees, and made the final decision on which IB Fees to record as revenue.
Information from the Pipeline Report was included in data TCA sent to the fund administrator in
order to calculate the TCA Funds’ monthly NAV and performance figures. TCA had no written
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policies and procedures in place with regard to recording IB Fees for the Master Fund until about
the fourth quarter of 2018, and once such policies and procedures were in place, TCA did not
follow them.

26. Press’ severely reckless actions resulted in TCA providing data relating to the $176
million in fraudulent IB Fees to the fund administrator in order to calculate the TCA Funds’ NAV
and performance figures, and in TCA recording those transactions as revenue on the Master Fund’s
books and records.

3. Dissemination of False and Misleading Information to
Investors Regarding NAV and Performance Figures

27. TCA distributed monthly “Fact Sheets” and newsletters, and GP distributed account
statements, to the TCA Funds’ investors and/or prospective investors that included inflated NAV
balances, and false performance figures and monthly returns from the fraudulently recorded term
sheet only deals and the IB Agreements. In fact, the TCA Funds had never reported a down
month. However, without these transactions, the TCA Funds would have had at least 34 months of
negative returns since inception. Moreover, as a result of the revenue recognition practices
described above, the statements that TCA and GP made in the TCA Funds’ PPMs that NAV inputs
would be calculated in accordance with IFRS were false and misleading.

4. Manipulation of Performance Figures through Fee Waivers

28. In at least 14 separate months between May 2014 and November 2019, TCA and
GP waived management and performance fees to further achieve the higher performance
figures. For those months, after the fund administrator would send TCA the initial monthly NAV
and performance figures for review and approval, TCA’s staff would write back requesting that the
administrator recalculate the NAV based on Press’ decision to now waive management or
performance fees. For at least one month, waiving the fees also changed what was originally a
month of negative returns for the TCA Funds into positive gains. Although the TCA Funds’ PPMs
stated that TCA and GP could waive fees for any period of time, there was never any disclosure to
investors in the PPMs or in other communications that these waivers, rather than the successful
result of TCA’s strategies, were one of the reasons for the TCA Funds’ consistent, positive
performance.

5. Overcharging of Management and Performance Fees by TCA and GP
29.  Asaresult of TCA artificially inflating the TCA Funds’ NAV and performance
figures, the funds were overcharged monthly management and performance fees by TCA and GP,
respectively. In total, the TCA Funds were overcharged fees of approximately $10.5 million.

D. Promissory Note between TCA and the Master Fund

30. In preparing the 2015 financial statements, the TCA Funds’ outside auditor
identified a $29 million markdown in investment income that would have resulted in a net

7



operating loss to be reported in the TCA Funds’ financial statements. To avoid having to report
this loss, TCA recorded as “Other Income” on the Master Fund’s 2015 financial statements a $34.3
million assignment of income from TCA to the Master Fund in the form of a promissory note.
Pursuant to this assignment, TCA agreed to assign certain income to the Master Fund in 2015,
which would not be payable until 2018. Both the assignment of income agreement and promissory
note were signed by Press and dated as of December 31, 2015. This assigned income increased the
Master Fund’s gross income by that amount and resulted in the fund reporting a net income of
about $30.7 million for the year.

31.  The $34.3 million assignment of income and promissory note had the effect of
misleading investors into believing that the TCA Funds had positive performance derived from
their investment activity. Without the purported income from the promissory note, TCA faced the
prospect of reporting operating losses on the TCA Funds’ year-ended 2015 audited financial
statements because of the adjustments to revenue the outside auditor had identified. Since TCA
was required to provide these financial statements to investors, the loss would have contradicted
the 12 months of positive gains already reported in the TCA Funds’ monthly Fact Sheets and
account statements throughout the year. Press approved TCA'’s recording of the assignment of
income on the Master Fund’s financial statements.

E. Untrue Statements in TCA’s Form ADV Filings

32.  TCA was required to file annual Forms ADV with the Commission. Press signed
Forms ADV on behalf of TCA that reported overstated regulatory assets under management for
TCA and gross asset value for the Master Fund figures in Forms ADV filed with the Commission
on September 30, 2015, March 29, 2016, September 15, 2016, March 21, 2017, April 17, 2018,
and September 14, 2018. The asset values in the Forms ADV were overstated because they
included deals booked at the non-binding term sheet only stage of the lending process and the
fraudulent IB Fees.

Violations

33.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Press willfully violated Section 17(a) of
the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, which prohibit
fraudulent conduct in the offer or sale of securities and in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities.

34.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Press willfully violated Section 206(1)
of the Advisers Act, which prohibits an investment adviser from employing any device, scheme, or
artifice to defraud, and Section 206(2) of the Advisers Act, which prohibits an investment adviser
from engaging in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates as a fraud or
deceit on any client or prospective client.

35. As a result of the conduct described above, Press willfully violated Section 206(4)
of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-8 thereunder, which prohibit an investment adviser to a
pooled investment vehicle from making misrepresentations or omissions to or otherwise engaging
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in any act, practice, or course of business that is fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative with respect
to any investor or potential investor in the pooled investment vehicle.

36.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Press willfully aided and abetted and
caused TCA’s violations of Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder,
which require investment advisers registered with the Commission to, among other things, adopt
and implement written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent violations of the
Advisers Act and the rules promulgated thereunder.

37.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Press willfully violated Section 207 of
the Advisers Act, which makes it unlawful for any person willfully to make any untrue statement
of a material fact in any registration application or report filed with the Commission, or willfully to
omit to state in any such application or report any material fact which is required to be stated
therein.

Disgorgement and Civil Penalties

38.  The disgorgement and prejudgment interest ordered in paragraph IV.D. below, are
consistent with equitable principles and does not exceed Respondent’s net profits from his
violations, and will be distributed to harmed investors to the extent feasible.

V.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to
impose the sanctions agreed to in Respondent Press’ Offer.

Accordingly, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Section 21C of the Exchange
Act, Sections 203(f) and 203(k) of the Advisers Act, and Section 9(b) of the Company Act, it is
hereby ORDERED that:

A Respondent Press cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and
any future violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and Sections 206(1), 206(2), 206(4) and 207 of the Advisers Act and Rules
206(4)-7 and 206(4)-8 thereunder.

B. Respondent Press be, and hereby is:

barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal
securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized
statistical rating organization; and

prohibited from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of an
advisory board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter for, a
registered investment company or affiliated person of such investment adviser,
depositor, or principal underwriter.
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C. Any reapplication for association by the Respondent will be subject to the
applicable laws and regulations governing the reentry process, and reentry may be conditioned
upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, compliance with the Commission’s order
and payment of any or all of the following: (a) any disgorgement or civil penalties ordered by a
Court against the Respondent in any action brought by the Commission; (b) any disgorgement
amounts ordered against the Respondent for which the Commission waived payment; (c) any
arbitration award related to the conduct that served as the basis for the Commission order; (d) any
self-regulatory organization arbitration award to a customer, whether or not related to the conduct
that served as the basis for the Commission order; and (e) any restitution order by a self-regulatory
organization, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis for the Commission
order.

D. Respondent shall pay disgorgement of $4,409,546, prejudgment interest of
$755,178, and civil penalty in the amount of $292,570 as follows:

1. Payment shall be made in the following installments: the first installment of
$1,364,326 upon the entry of this Order; subsequent installments of $500,000,
$750,000, $1,000,000, and $1,842,968 shall be paid within 90 days, 180 days, 270
days, and 360 days, respectively, from the date of this Order. Payments shall be
applied first to post order interest, which accrues pursuant to SEC Rule of Practice
600 and/or pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 83717. Prior to making the final payment set
forth herein, Respondent shall contact the staff of the Commission for the amount
due. If Respondent fails to make any payment by the date agreed and/or in the
amount agreed according to the schedule set forth above, all outstanding payments
under this Order, including post-order interest, minus any payments made, shall
become due and payable immediately at the discretion of the staff of the
Commission without further application to the Commission.

2. Payments shall be made to Jonathan E. Perlman, Esq. of Genovese Joblove &
Battista, P.A., the Receiver appointed by the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida in the action SEC v. TCA Fund Management Group
Corp. et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-21964 (S.D. Fla.), for inclusion in the receivership
estate established in that action and distribution pursuant to a Court-approved
distribution plan. Payment must be made in one of the following ways:

@ Respondent may transmit payment electronically to Jonathan E. Perlman,
Receiver, who will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions
upon request; or

(b)  Respondent may pay by certified check, bank cashier’s check, or United
States postal money order, made payable to Jonathan E. Perlman, Receiver,
and hand-delivered or mailed to:

Jonathan E. Perlman, Esqg., Receiver
Genovese Joblove & Battista, P.A.
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100 SE 2™ Street, Suite 400
Miami, Florida 33131

Payments must be submitted under cover letter that identifies Press as Respondent
in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings. Respondent shall
simultaneously transmit photocopies of evidence of payment and the cover letter
sent to the Receiver to: Chedly C. Dumornay, Assistant Regional Director, Division
of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 801 Brickell Ave., Suite
1950, Miami, FL 33131.

E. Pursuant to Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, a Fair Fund is
created for the disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and penalties referenced in paragraph D.
above. This Fair Fund may receive the funds from and/or be combined with funds paid by other
respondents or defendants, including without limitation defendants in the SEC v. TCA Fund
Management Group Corp. et al. litigation. The amount ordered to be paid as a civil money penalty
pursuant to this Order shall be treated as penalties paid to the government for all purposes,
including all tax purposes. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil penalty, Respondent agrees
that in any Related Investor Action, he shall not argue that he is entitled to, nor shall he benefit by,
offset or reduction of any award of compensatory damages by the amount of any part of
Respondent’s payment of a civil penalty in this action (‘“Penalty Offset”). If the court in any
Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent agrees that he shall, within 30
days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Commission's counsel in this
action and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such
a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil penalty and shall not be deemed to change the
amount of the civil penalty imposed in this proceeding. For purposes of this paragraph, a “Related
Investor Action” means a private damages action brought against Respondent by or on behalf of
one or more investors based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Order instituted by the
Commission in this proceeding.
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V.

It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set forth in Section
523 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §523, the findings in this Order are true and admitted by
Respondent, and further, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other
amounts due by Respondent under this Order or any other judgment, order, consent order, decree
or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by
Respondent of the federal securities laws or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set
forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 8523(a)(19).

By the Commission.

Vanessa A. Countryman
Secretary
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